THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-46-00167
Appellate Case No. 2014-000913

Robert Randall, M.D.,

Appellant,

v.

Amisub of South Carolina, Inc.
d/b/a/ Piedmont Medical Center,
Nathaniel Edwards, M.D., and
Richard Patterson, M.D.,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

James M. Griffin
Ariail E. King
Lewis, Babcock, & Griffin, LLP
P.O. Box 111208
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 771-8000
Attorney for the Appellants

RECEIVED

NOV 06 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Statement of the Issues on Appeal

1. Did the lower court err in finding that the Respondents are immune from liability for damages under the Health Care Quality Improvement Act?
2. Did the lower court err in failing to recognize that Respondents do not meet the exception to the Due Process Requirement?
2. Did the lower court err in holding that Respondents were shielded from liability for civil conspiracy by the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine.
3. Did the lower court err in holding that Appellant's claim of defamation failed because it was based on a true statement?

Statement of the Case

Appellant brought this action in January 2013, for conspiracy and defamation against the Respondents. After discovery was conducted, Respondents moved for summary judgment. The lower court held a hearing on March 3, 2014 on the motion, which was granted by the lower court by order dated March 28, 2014. Appellant then filed the instant appeal.

Statement of the Facts

Appellant Dr. Robert Randall (“hereinafter Appellant”) is a board certified general surgeon. Until his privileges were revoked in summer of 2009, Appellant had been performing abdominal surgeries at the Defendant Piedmont Medical Center for more than 25 years. (R. 536-538). As part of a periodic peer review process, the peer review committee of Piedmont Medical Center reviewed all of Appellant’s surgeries in 2007 and concluded that the procedures were all appropriately done and there was no need to monitor Appellant’s surgical procedures going forward. (R. 539-540).

In 2008 Appellant’s surgical practice, Rock Hill Surgical Associates, was purchased by Novant Health. (R. 741 ll. 13-22). Novant Health also owns Carolinas Medical Center in Charlotte, North Carolina. During this period of time, Novant was also seeking a certificate of need to construct a new hospital in Fort Mill, South Carolina. Novant was competing with Piedmont and a third hospital for the right to build this new hospital. (R. 728 ll. 12-24, R. 730-731 ll.1-4).

In addition, Piedmont was also actively recruiting surgeons to become employed by Piedmont. Piedmont eventually created its own hospital surgeon practice through recruiting and hiring other local surgeons in the Rock Hill area. (R. 727 ll. 7-24, R. 728

ll.1-3). Thus, during 2008 through 2010, Piedmont was actively competing with Appellant's employer for the construction of a new hospital in Fort Mill and was preparing to compete with Appellant and other surgeons in the Rock Hill area.

In 2010, Dr. Nathaniel Edwards ("Dr. Edwards"), a cardiologist, became chairman of the medical executive committee (MEC) at Piedmont. Dr. Edwards Depo., (R. 680, ll. 11-22). As chairman of the MEC, Dr. Edwards also served on the peer review committee. Id at (R. 681 ll. 4-13). Prior to his becoming chairman of the MEC, Dr. Edwards had never served on the peer review committee. Id. at (R. 684 ll.24-25, R. 685 ll. 1-20).

Dr. Edwards held a personal animosity toward Appellant. (R. 744 ll. 5-25, R. 745-749 ll. 1-13). Appellant had previously treated a patient who is a close family friend of Dr. Edwards and his wife. Dr. Edwards' wife is also a medical doctor. She complained about Appellant's care of this close family friend to Dr. Edwards. (R. 706 ll. 16-25, R. 707-708 ll. 1-4). During Dr. Edwards' tenure as chairman of the MEC, the hospital chief medical officer (CMO) Dr. Patterson, began pulling medical files of patients of Appellant to submit to the peer review committee for review and action. See, Exhibit 3 Email correspondence (R. 542-563). Dr. Patterson is not licensed to practice medicine in South Carolina and he is not on the medical staff. Rather, he is simply a hospital employee. However, Dr. Patterson, as the CMO, attends peer review committee, credentials committee and the MEC on behalf of the hospital.

The hospital by-laws provide for the peer review committee to review files submitted to it and if the peer review committee believes corrective action needs to be taken, then the peer review committee is tasked with recommending the action to the medical executive committee. (R. 564-566). The MEC is then required to vote on a

recommendation and then submit proposed action to the hospital board for their consideration. (R. 564-566). Here, the peer review committee never made any recommendation to the MEC for corrective action to be taken against Appellant.

Moreover, in the summer of 2010, Appellant's credentials on the surgical medical staff were up for renewal. Dr. Edwards, in his capacity as chairman of MEC and a designated member of the peer review committee appeared before the credentials committee opposing Appellant's renewal. Dr. Edwards presented a series of cases that had previously been reviewed by the peer review committee. (R. 567-569).

The credentials committee consists of more experienced members of the medical staff. (R. 734 ll. 13-19). Dr. Edwards has never served on the credentials committee. After hearing from Dr. Edwards, the members of the credential committee invited Appellant to address the series of cases presented by Dr. Edwards. The physician members of the credentials committee concluded that "Dr. Randall was safe to continue performing surgery." (R. 570-572). Thereafter, the full MEC considered the credentials committee's recommendation that Appellant be reappointed and did in fact reappoint Appellant for another year. (R. 573-578).

Dr. Edwards, having his views rejected by both the peer review and the credentials committee as well as the full MEC, acting in conjunction with Dr. Patterson, created a brand new committee formed solely for purposes of sanctioning Appellant. (R. 682, ll. 22-25, R. 683, ll. 1-25). This new committee was called the "ADHOC" committee and was hand-picked by Dr. Edwards. (R. 681 ll.18-24, R. 682-683). Dr. Edwards did not select any general surgeons with experience performing abdominal laparoscopic surgery to serve on his committee. (R. 683 ll. 10-15). The members of this ADHOC committee requested

that a general surgeon serve and further requested that Dr. Patterson on behalf of the hospital provide one. (R. 686:22 - 687:11). These requests went unanswered and there was never a board certified general surgeon to sit in judgment of Appellant. (R. 579 – 582; R. 686 ll. 16-25, 687 ll. 1-22).

Dr. Edwards' ADHOC committee met and considered the files previously reviewed and considered by the credentials committee and the peer review committee. The Edwards' ADHOC committee ultimately voted to recommend to the MEC that Appellant's abdominal surgical privileges be revoked. (R. 674:23-25; R. 675:1-17). During this process, Appellant was invited to appear and made a presentation about his care of a number of patients whom he had been notified were being considered by the ADHOC committee. (R. 742). During this meeting, Dr. Edwards questioned Appellant on two additional cases that Appellant had never been notified were under consideration. (R. 742 ll. 9-25; R. 743 ll.1-13).

Although the ADHOC recommended to the MEC that Randall's abdominal surgical privileges be revoked, their recommendation was conditioned upon allowing Appellant to continue performing surgical procedures while he exhausted the peer review hearing process provided in the hospital by-laws. (R. 674 ll. 23-25, R. 675 ll. 1-17). Subsequently, the MEC to voted accept the recommendation of this ADHOC committee, provided that Appellant's privileges would not be restricted until he was given an opportunity for a formal hearing. (R. 583-585).

Days later, Dr. Edwards, contrary to decisions of his hand-picked ADHOC committee and of the MEC, unilaterally suspended Appellant's privileges without notice or hearing. (R. 586-589). Dr. Edwards made this decision after Dr. Patterson presented

him with information regarding patient JR, who had been treated and released in July, almost three months earlier. There was a question regarding Dr. Randall's treatment of JR and the amount of blood that she was transfused over numerous days. Interestingly, the hospital external reviewer subsequently determined that he could not argue with Appellant's successful outcome in the treatment of patient JR and did not conclude that Appellant's care of this patient was substandard. Furthermore, Dr. Edwards testified that he did not consult with anyone other than Dr. Patterson regarding Appellant's treatment of patient JR. (R. 688 ll. 13-25, R. 689-705 ll. 1-19).

Dr. Edwards also testified that he made the decision to suspend Appellant because the general consensus in the ADHOC committee meeting was that Appellant's privileges should have been suspended but that he was one of only a few holdouts who thought Appellant should have been given his "due process" rights of review. (R. 702 ll. 4-21). Dr. Edwards' testimony of the sentiments of the ADHOC committee is contrary to the testimony of other MEC members. Dr. Baker for example testified that Dr. Edwards' actions came as a surprise and contrary to the decision of the MEC. (R. 676 ll. 12-17, R. 677 ll. 2-12). No member of the ADHOC committee testified that the majority of the members wished to deny Appellant his full hearing rights before imposition of such a career ending sanction. Dr. Edwards' actions were totally at odds with the decision with the ADHOC Committee's decision that Appellant's privileges should not be summarily suspended without having formal review hearing prior to the sanction going into effect. Id.

Appellant received written notice of the summary suspension and immediately requested a hearing before the MEC. At this hearing Appellant appeared with an attorney. However, Appellant's attorney was not permitted to participate in the hearing. (R. 737 ll.

14-25, R. 738 ll. 1-10; R. 711 ll. 19-25, R. 712-714 ll. 1-3). Once again Appellant gave a presentation on the cases he believed were under consideration by the MEC and no one asked any questions of Appellant. Furthermore, there was no investigation undertaken by the MEC prior to Appellant's appearance before the committee. (R. 735 ll. 21-25, R. 736 ll. 1-8; R. 694 ll. 21-25, R. 695 ll. 1-25). At this hearing, Dr. Patterson, who is not a voting member of the MEC, falsely represented that a reviewer determined that patient JR's injury occurred as a result of Appellant's procedure. (R. 589-295). This was not correct as the external reviewer's report was not even available at the time of the MEC meeting. Once the external review's report was made available, the reviewer could not determine that Appellant's treatment of patient was substandard. (R. 697 ll. 10-25, R. 698-699).

In addition, Dr. Patterson also misinformed the MEC of their options. He advised MEC that they could either uphold the summary suspension in its entirety or modify it. Dr. Patterson did not inform the MEC that they could have vacated the summary suspension. (R. 589-595).

The summary suspension, once it was in effect, was required to be reported to the South Carolina Medical Board and to the National Practitioner Data Bank. Appellant through his attorney, attempted to negotiate a resignation without the report being submitted to the medical board but could not because of the reporting obligations. (R. 715 ll. 12-17). The Respondent Piedmont had previously negotiated such a resolution with another physician in the past. This no doubt was no longer an option because of Dr. Edwards' unilateral decision to suspend Appellant prior to the appellant process taking place.

Appellant requested that a general surgeon serve on the hearing panel that was to be convened to consider the appeal of the summary suspension sanction and the recommendation by the MEC to revoke Appellant's abdominal surgical privileges. (R. 719:5-721:21). Once again, the hospital refused to appoint a member from the medical staff who had experience with performing laparoscopic abdominal surgery to the hearing panel. (R. 722 ll. 16-22). This is because the hospital by-laws prohibit anyone serving on a committee considering sanctions of another physician if the proposed member of the hearing panel has an economic interest with or against the doctor who is being reviewed. (R. 564-566). All witnesses who were asked testified that it is essentially impossible for someone's conduct to be judge by a physician who practices within the same specialty under the hospital's policy. At Piedmont Medical Center, all physicians in the same specialty either compete against with each other or are in the same practice. Thus, Appellant was deprived of the opportunity to have a board certified general surgeon to serve on the hearing panel. However, there were other surgeons available on the medical staff that in fact perform abdominal surgery, yet none of the other surgical specialties who have experience performing the same type surgeries that were under review were appointed to the hearing panel. (R. 719 ll. 5-25, R. 720-722 ll. 1-22).

Also, under the hospital by-laws, Appellant had a right to a hearing to consider his summary suspension and revocation within 90 days from the date the sanctions went into effect. (R. 564-566). However, just two days before the scheduled hearing within the time frame provided under the by-laws, the hospital's surgical expert who had reviewed Appellant's files refused to come testify before the hearing panel. (R. 716 ll. 6-23, R. 717 ll. 1-25, R. 718 ll. 4-22). The hospital, through its attorney, first claimed that there was a

scheduling conflict and then later notified the hearing panel representative that the surgical expert would not be available at all. *Id.* At the hospital's request the hearing was postponed in violation of the hospital by-laws and was rescheduled only once when the hospital found another expert to testify against Appellant. This expert was not a general surgeon but a vascular surgeon.

Appellant's attorney-- who attempted to appear with him before the MEC to consider the summary suspension and who participated before the hearing panel-- testified that Appellant was denied a fair hearing based upon a number of facts. First, Appellant was prohibited from having attorney representation at the hearing before the MEC to consider his summary suspension. Second, Appellant was not given adequate notice of all of the cases that were to be reviewed by the MEC prior to his suspension and hearing. Third, Appellant was not given a timely hearing under the by-laws before the review panel. Had the hearing gone forward as required under the by-laws, Appellant no doubt would have prevailed before the hearing panel because his expert was ready, willing, and able to testify at the originally scheduled hearing. Fourth, Appellant did have a board certified general surgeon appear before the panel to testify on his behalf that Appellant's conduct was within the standard of care and that he was competent to prepare abdominal surgical procedures. (R. 596-671). If the hearing had gone forward as scheduled, the hospital would not have had any competent expert to contradict Appellant's well qualified expert. (R. 723 ll. 22-25, R. 724 ll. 1-22).

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court erred in finding that the Respondents are immune from liability for damages under the Health Care Quality Improvement Act.

Respondents are not entitled to immunity under the Health Care Quality Improvement Act. (HCQIA) for multiple reasons: 1) Appellant was not afforded adequate notice of the charges levied against him and a fair hearing prior to the imposition of the summary revocation of his surgical privileges; 2) Appellant was not provided a fair hearing to address the summary revocation because he was denied the right to counsel before the MEC, was not provided notice that the summary suspension was the result of Dr. Edward's review of Appellant's care of patient JR and because Dr. Patterson made misrepresentations of both fact and procedure; 3) Appellant was not provided a hearing within the 90 day period as required under the hospital by-laws to review the decision of the MEC; and 4) Lastly, there were not any physicians who had experience with laparoscopic abdominal surgery on the hearing panel that ultimately reviewed the decision of the MEC.

Congress enacted HCQIA "to improve the quality of medical care by encouraging physicians to identify and discipline physicians who are incompetent or who engage in unprofessional behavior." Matthews v. Lancaster General Hosp., 87 F.3d 624, 632 (3'd Cir. 1996)(quoting H.R. Rep. No. 903, 99th Cong., 2d Sess. 2 (1986)). An entity qualifying for HCQIA immunity "shall not be liable in damages under any law of the United States or of any State (or political subdivision thereof) with respect to the action." 42 U.S.C. §11111(a)(1). Specifically, HCQIA provides a "professional review body"¹ with

¹ The term "professional review body" means a health care entity and the governing body or any committee of a health care entity which conducts professional review

immunity from damages whenever a "professional review action"² is taken in accordance with the requirements of the statute.

In order for HCQIA immunity to apply, a professional review action must have been taken:

- (1) in the reasonable belief that the action was in furtherance of quality health care,
- (2) after a reasonable effort to obtain the facts of the matter,
- (3) after adequate notice and hearing procedures are afforded to the physician involved or after such other procedures as are fair to the physician under the circumstances, and
- (4) in the reasonable belief that the action was warranted by the facts known after such reasonable effort to obtain facts and after meeting the requirement of paragraph (3).

42 U.S.C. §11112(a).

Because the evidence establishes a question of fact as to whether the Respondents can meet the third and fourth provisions of the statute, the lower court erred in granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment.

A. Respondents Did Not Provide Adequate Notice and Hearing Procedures or Other Procedures Fair Under the Circumstances.

activity, and includes any committee of the medical staff of such an entity when assisting the governing body in a professional review activity. 42 U.S.C. § 11151(11)

² The statute defines "professional review action" as an action or recommendation of a professional review body which is taken or made in the conduct of professional review activity, which is based on the competence or professional conduct of an individual physician (which conduct affects or could affect adversely the health or welfare of a patient or patients), and which affects (or may affect) adversely the clinical privileges, or membership in a professional society, of the physician. Such term includes a formal decision of a professional review body not to take an action or make a recommendation described in the previous sentence and also includes professional review activities relating to a professional review action. 42 U.S.C. § 11151(9).

Contrary to the lower court's holding, Appellant clearly was not provided "adequate notices and hearing procedures" prior to the imposition of the summary suspension that would provide Respondents with the "safe harbor" they seek. The lower court improperly ignored or rejected the various deficiencies of Respondents.

1. Suspension

A suspension of a physician's clinical and admitting privileges is a significant action. There are consequences that flow from a suspension. All suspensions of doctors, regardless of the term, must be reported to the South Carolina Board of Medical Examiners pursuant to the South Carolina Hospital Reporting Act. Guanciaie v. McLeod Regional Health, C/A No. 4:02-3001 (USDC-SC March 8, 2004)(attached). Congress recognized the importance of procedural safeguards by including a "due process" component requiring "adequate notice and hearing procedures" in the statutory framework. Congress intended to ensure that physicians facing disciplinary action have an opportunity to present a response to such action.

The lower court found that Appellant was not entitled to a hearing before his suspension. However, the United States District Court in Guanciaie explained:

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