THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-46-00167
Appellate Case No. 2014-000913

Robert Randall, M.D., Appellant,

v.

Amisub of South Carolina, Inc. d/b/a Piedmont Medical Respondents.
Center, Nathaniel Edwards, M.D., and Richard
Patterson, M.D.,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Travis Dayhuff
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street, 17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

Attorney for Defendants

Monteith P. Todd
Sowell Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, SC 29211
(803)231-7837

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS HAVE DAMAGES IMMUNITY AND DR. RANDALL'S CLAIMS FAIL PURSUANT TO HCQIA

A. HCQIA

Under HCQIA if a professional review action (more commonly known as a "peer review action") complies with certain standards, hospitals, physicians, and others are entitled to immunity from claims for monetary damages that arise from peer review activities. 42 U.S.C. § 11111(a)(1)(if a peer review action satisfies the HCQIA standards peer reviewers "shall not be liable in damages under any law of the United

⁸ Dr. Randall's remaining privileges at Piedmont expired when Dr. Randall chose not to seek reappointment to the medical staff. (R at 333:17-334:9).

States or of any State. . . .”); *Moore v. Williamsburg Reg. Hosp.*, 560 F.3d 166, 171 (4th Cir. 2009); *Wieters v. Roper Hosp. Inc.*, 58 Fed. Appx. 45 (4th Cir. 2003).

There are four HCQIA standards. Peer reviewers are entitled to immunity from damages if the peer review action at issue was taken:

- (1) in the reasonable belief that the action was in the furtherance of quality health care;
- (2) after a reasonable effort to obtain the facts of the matter;
- (3) after adequate notice and hearing procedures are afforded to the physician involved or after such other procedures as are fair to the physician under the circumstances, and
- (4) in the reasonable belief that the action was warranted by the facts known after such reasonable effort to obtain facts and after meeting the requirements of paragraph (3).

42 U.S.C. § 11112(a).

Congress granted peer reviewers this immunity to encourage physicians to engage in peer review and take action to protect patients, including suspension and revocation of privileges, without fear of reprisal in the form of suits seeking monetary damages. *Oksanen v. Page Mem. Hosp.*, 945 F.2d 696, 704 (4th Cir. 1991)(noting that Congress intended HCQIA to protect peer reviewers from the threat of damages, and further that Congress expressly recognized “[t]here is an overriding national need to provide incentive and protection for physicians engaging in effective professional peer review.”)(quoting 42 U.S.C. § 11101(5)). Rigorous peer review and reporting the results of peer review to a national databank are core components of federal policy designed to protect patients from incompetent and potentially dangerous physicians who could otherwise move from hospital to hospital without disclosure of their past problems. 42 U.S.C. § 11101(2).

B. Presumption of compliance with HCQIA and the resulting summary judgment standard

Affording further protection to peer reviewers, HCQIA provides a statutory presumption that the peer review action at issue satisfies the standards necessary to obtain damages immunity.

A professional review action *shall be presumed* to have met the preceding standards necessary for the protection set out in section 11111(a) of this title unless the presumption is rebutted by a preponderance of the evidence.

42 U.S.C. § 11112(a)(emphasis added).

This statutory presumption shifts the burden of proof and persuasion at the summary judgment stage onto the physician plaintiff. *Singh v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Mass., Inc.*, 308 F.3d 25, 33, n.5 (1st Cir. 2002) (“[T]he statutory presumption in favor of the health care entity shifts to the plaintiff ‘not only the burden of producing evidence but the burden of persuasion as well.’”)(internal citations omitted). Summary judgment for the peer reviewers should be granted unless a reasonable jury, viewing the facts in the best light for the plaintiff, could conclude that the plaintiff has shown by a preponderance of evidence that defendants’ actions fail to satisfy the HCQIA standards. *Moore*, 560 F.3d. at 175; *Gabaldoni v. Washington Cty. Hosp.*, 250 F.3d 255, 260 (4th Cir. 2001).

HCQIA creates a summary judgment standard that differs greatly from the traditional Rule 56 summary judgment standard. *Guanciale v. McLeod Reg. Med. Ctr.*, Order at 8 (D.S.C. Mar. 8, 2004)(R. at 790)(“Under this unconventional standard, [physician] bears the burden of providing by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant’s peer review process did not satisfy § 11112(a).”). A physician plaintiff

cannot, therefore, avoid summary judgment by raising a genuine issue of material fact as to whether one of the HCQIA standards is satisfied. *Moore*, 560 F.3d at 175-77; *Wieters*, 58 Fed. Appx. at 16; *Hein-Muniz v. Aiken Reg. Med. Ctrs.*, 532 Fed. Appx. 342, 343-344 (4th Cir. 2012).

HCQIA essentially requires courts to act as gatekeepers, weighing evidence at the summary judgment stage. If a physician's evidence of non-compliance with the HCQIA standards does not outweigh the statutory presumption and the peer reviewers' evidence of compliance with the HCQIA standards, summary judgment for the peer reviewers is appropriate. *Moore*, 560 F.3d at 180.

C. Defendants satisfy the HCQIA standards

1. Dr. Randall's peer review action was undertaken in the reasonable belief that it was in the furtherance of quality healthcare

The first standard of HCQIA is satisfied if, looking at the totality of the circumstances, the peer review action was undertaken by Defendants "in the reasonable belief that the action was in the furtherance of quality healthcare." 42 U.S.C. § 11112(a)(1). HCQIA calls for a "generous application of the concept of reasonableness" at the summary judgment stage similar to the "typical judicial review of administrative decisions and of such things as internal procedures for terminating membership in voluntary associations." *Lee v. Trinity Lutheran Hosp.*, 2004 W.L. 212548 at *7 n. 5 (W.D. Mo. 2004), *affirmed* 408 F.3d 1064 (8th Cir. 2005); *Freilich v. Upper Chesapeake Health, Inc.*, 313 F.3d 205, 212 (4th Cir. 2002)(describing the HCQIA reasonableness standard as one that "embodies the discretion that health care

professionals have traditionally exercised in determining whether or not their peers meet a requisite level of professional competence.”).

This HCQIA standard does not require that the peer review decision be correct or that the decision actually improve the quality of health care. *Imperial v. Suburban Hosp. Ass’n, Inc.*, 37 F.3d 1026, 1030 (4th Cir. 1994). As long as the record contains evidence that would support a reasonable belief that the action in question would restrict incompetent behavior, protect patients, or otherwise further quality healthcare, standard one is satisfied. *Gabaldoni*, 250 F.3d at 261.

Defendants satisfy HCQIA standard one because there is abundant evidence in the record that Dr. Randall’s peer review action was undertaken to ensure quality care and patient safety, and this action was reasonable in light of Dr. Randall’s serious and well-documented problems with abdominal surgery. The meeting minutes and testimony from the physician members of the Peer Review Committee, the Credentials Committee, the Ad Hoc Committee, and the MEC reflect a thorough review of Dr. Randall’s care which caused these physicians to believe that Dr. Randall’s surgical judgment and technique is substandard. *Supra* Stmt. of Facts at § II.A., B., & C. The surgeon called to testify by the MEC at Dr. Randall’s hearing opined that Dr. Randall’s abdominal surgical care was deficient. *Supra* Stmt. of Facts at § II.E. After Dr. Randall challenged the MEC’s recommendation, the physicians on the hearing panel and the members of the Appellate Review Committee and the Board considered Dr. Randall’s surgical care and upheld the MEC’s recommendation. *Supra* Stmt. of Facts at § II.E. & F.

Dr. Randall's counsel deposed many of the peer review participants, and their testimony provides additional confirmation that his peer review action was undertaken in the reasonable furtherance of quality healthcare. Dr. Edwards, the Chief of Staff, testified as follows:

Q: Why did you vote to revoke -- to recommend the revocation of privileges?

A: Because I was concerned that there had been a -- there had been a body of cases in which there were problems with pre-operative assessment, intraoperative technique, and post-operative care, as well as -- I think, that meeting, we also had the return-to-OR data suggesting a high volume of return to OR. And, during the whole process, we had -- I don't recall other cases coming in that were of concern from any other general surgeon. We continued to have a large volume of cases coming in with Dr. Randall, and they continued to come in throughout the process more -- more. And they were raised by physicians, hospital employees, as well as patient families. So it wasn't all coming from one source.

(R. at 396:9-25). Dr. Patterson, the Chief Medical Officer, offered the following testimony:

Q: . . . Why did the MEC take the action that they took, the revocation --

A: Right --

Q: -- the recommendation of revocation?

A: The general sense of -- of my listening to their concerns was that the gravity, the number of complications, the similarity, suggesting technique deficiencies and lack of insight into the difficulties.

(R. at 456:6-14). A physician on the MEC testified as follows:

Q: . . . You mentioned there was some sentiment. "Gosh why can't we just pass this [Dr. Randall's problems with surgical care] on to others?"

A: Yes.

Q: Why didn't you pass it on to others?

A: You are asking me personally?

Q: Yeah.

A: Because I felt a responsibility to do something for the patients and the community.

(R. at 512:13-20). Another physician on the MEC offered the following:

Q: Why did the MEC vote to uphold the suspension of his privileges?

A: I think the question has been and that's for the Peer Review Committee - after reviewing several cases, it was felt that his surgical procedures in regards to abdominal surgeries, including herniorrhaphy, was suboptimal, had a lot of complications, and from patient's safety point of view, there was unanimously agreed and recommended that his privileges should be suspended effective immediately.

(R. at 514:4-14).

Discovery also revealed that Dr. Randall's physician partners reviewed his care and found it to be seriously deficient. (R. at 323-325). These physicians had such strong negative opinions about Dr. Randall's care that he was ultimately terminated from the practice. (R. at 329:8-330:23). This evidence provides additional assurance -- from outside the peer review process -- that undertaking a peer review action of Dr. Randall under these circumstances was a reasonable measure.

In response to this evidence, Dr. Randall's complaint offers allegations that his peer review action was a conspiracy. In his deposition, Dr. Randall alleged that Drs. Edwards and Patterson acted against him for improper purposes. Dr. Randall's allegations, however, are not relevant to the appropriate analysis under HCQIA.

The test under HCQIA is whether an objectively reasonable basis existed for the peer review action in question. *Freilich*, 313 F.3d at 212; *Imperial*, 37 F.3d at 1030. The sufficiency of the basis for the peer reviewers' action -- not alleged personal bias, malice, or bad faith on the part of the peer reviewers -- is relevant under HCQIA. *Sugarbaker v. SSM Health Care*, 190 F.3d 905, 914 (8th Cir. 1999)("[T]he subjective bias or bad faith of the peer reviewers is irrelevant."); *Austin v. McNamara*, 979 F.2d 728, 734 (9th Cir. 1992)(alleged personal animosity of peer reviewers is "irrelevant to the reasonableness standards of § 11112(a). . ." because "[t]he test is an objective one, so bad faith is immaterial."). Therefore, even if Dr. Randall had evidence that his peer review action was based upon personal animus, bad faith, or malice, this evidence would have no effect upon the HCQIA analysis.⁹

While Dr. Randall makes unsupported allegations of conspiracy against Dr. Edwards and Dr. Patterson, Dr. Randall concedes that the peer review bodies that voted in favor of terminating his privileges, and the bodies that reviewed and upheld these recommendations, did not act in bad faith. (R. at 344:18-346:6)(Dr. Randall disagrees with conclusions of MEC but has "no problem with the motivations for their action"); (R. at 368:3-11)(Dr. Randall agrees that Hearing Panel was not motivated by animus or bias); (R. at 372:5-374:8)(Dr. Randall agrees that neither Appellate Review Committee nor Board acted with animus or bad faith). Therefore, even if Dr. Edwards and Dr. Patterson acted out of bias or bad faith, which they did not, the concession that

⁹ Though it is not relevant to the appropriate HCQIA analysis there is abundant evidence that establishes Dr. Randall's peer review was not a conspiracy motivated by improper purposes. (R. at 393:21-394:4; 457:17-24; 415:4-14; 516:19-517:22).

these peer review bodies acted in good faith makes Dr. Randall's allegations of conspiracy against these individuals immaterial for this additional reason.

The record of Dr. Randall's peer review action and testimony from the peer reviewers constitute overwhelming evidence that Dr. Randall's peer review action was objectively reasonable under the circumstances. Dr. Randall's claims of conspiracy are irrelevant and immaterial. For these reasons and because Dr. Randall does not contest Defendants' compliance with HCQIA standard one, the Court should find that Defendants satisfy standard one of HCQIA.

2. After a reasonable effort to obtain the facts of the matter

Standard two of HCQIA requires that the peer reviewers engage in a reasonable effort to obtain the facts relevant to the peer review action. 42 U.S.C. § 11112(a)(2). A peer review action that consists of multiple levels of investigation and review generally satisfies this element of HCQIA. *Moore*, 560 F.3d at 175-76 (three-tier peer review process after suspension held to satisfy HCQIA standard two). The hospital's board of directors, the ultimate decision-maker in a peer review action, is entitled to rely upon investigation conducted by the previous levels of the peer review process. *Gabaldoni*, 250 F.3d at 261.

Dr. Randall's peer review action was a multi-level process that included a thorough investigation of the facts. *Supra* Stmt. of Facts at § II.A.-F. Dr. Randall's surgical care was reviewed over two years during numerous meetings of the Peer Review Committee, the Credentials Committee, the Ad Hoc Review Committee, and the MEC. *Supra* Stmt. of Facts at § II.A., B., & C. These multiple levels of review involved numerous physicians considering the relevant medical records, external

reviews, and Dr. Randall's written and oral comments. *Supra* Stmt. of Facts at § II.A., B., & C.

Defendants' peer review process included a two-day hearing that allowed Dr. Randall and the MEC to present witnesses, offer documentary evidence, and cross-examine each other's witnesses. *Supra* Stmt. of Facts at § II.E. The Appellate Review Committee then accepted briefs and oral argument by counsel before the matter was ultimately considered and decided by the Board. *Supra* Stmt. of Facts at § II.F.

For the reasons set forth above and because Dr. Randall does not contest Defendants' compliance with HCQIA standard two, the Court should find that Dr. Randall's peer review action included a reasonable investigation that satisfies the second HCQIA standard.

3. After adequate notice and hearing procedures

In order to obtain immunity under HCQIA, peer reviewers must provide a physician adequate notices and hearing procedures during the peer review process. 42 U.S.C. 11112(a)(3). HCQIA provides a list of notices and hearing procedures that should be afforded to a physician in a peer review action. 42 U.S.C. § 11112(b). If the peer reviewers provide the notices and hearing procedures set forth in section 11112(b), the peer review action satisfies a "safe harbor," and the presumption of compliance with HCQIA standard three becomes a *finding* of compliance. *Wieters*, 58 Fed. Appx. at 46 ("If a hospital follows the procedures laid out in § 11112(b), it is deemed to have satisfied § 11112(a)(3)."); *Smith v. Ricks*, 31 F. 3d 1478, 1487 (9th Cir. 1994)("[Section] 11112(b) lists certain procedures, which, if satisfied, guarantee a

shield from liability.”); *Guanciale*, Order at 11 (R. at 793)(“With compliance, there is no second-guessing or judicial review of the hospital’s disciplinary decision.”).

Because section 11112(b) provides a “safe harbor” for peer review actions that provide the delineated procedures, a claim of unfair process that does not involve a specific provision in section 11112(b) is immaterial to the HCQIA standard three analysis. *Moore*, 560 F.3d at 176 (rejecting physician’s argument of flawed process because “it is not based on the statutory requirement”).

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